008-CA-00D



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO.: 2008-TS-00027

RUTH LAWRENCE, as Administratrix of the Estate of JAMES E. LAWRENCE, Deceased and on Behalf of the Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of JAMES E. LAWRENCE, Deceased

APPELLEES

v.

TRINITY MISSION HEALTH & REHAB OF **HOLLY SPRINGS, LLC, and JOHN DOES 1-20,**

APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Defendant/Appellant Trinity Mission Health & Rehab of Holly Spings, LLC;

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the lower court erred in refusing to enforce a valid agreement to arbitrate executed between a resident and a long-term care facility.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 27, 2006, Ruth Lawrence, as Administratrix of the Estate of James

Lawrence, filed suit in Marshall County Circuit Court, alleging James Lawrence suffered

personal injuries while a resident of Trinity Mission Health & Rehab of Holly Springs, LLC.

(R. 1-26). In response and in lieu of filing an answer to the specific allegations of the Complaint,

Trinity Mission filed a motion to compel arbitration with the lower court. (R. 27-77, to include

exhibits filed thereto). Trinity Mission sought arbitration based upon James Lawrences'

execution of both an Admission Agreement and an Alternative Dispute Resolution Agreement

("ADR Agreement") executed at the time of his admission to the Facility. (R. 62-77).

Following full briefing and oral argument on the issue of arbitration, on December 21, 2007, the lower court overruled the motion, finding as follows:

The Motion of Defendant is based upon an alleged agreement styled, "Alternative Dispute Resolution Agreement," purported to have been executed by Plaintiff, Ruth Lawrence, on behalf of James E. Lawrence, dated the 3rd day of January, 2005. James E. Lawrence is now deceased, and Ruth Lawrence is his widow.

Mr. Lawrence is purported to have signed the instrument with an "X" however there was no testimony that this was his "signature"; that he understood what he was signing; whether he could read or write; or competent, and the circumstances under which the document was "executed."

Apparently Ruth Lawrence executed the document, however there was no testimony of the circumstances under which it was executed, whether she understood the results of executing the document; whether she could read and/or write, or was competent.

THEREFORE, the Motion of Defendant should be and is hereby

¹Appellant's citation form is as follows: Citation to the Record is (R.__) and citation to the Transcript is (Tr.__).

overruled.2

(R. 150-51). In so ruling, the lower court did not follow the precedent of *Vicksburg Partners*, *L.P. v. Stephens*, 911 So. 2d 507 (Miss. 2005), and its progeny, as well as long-standing Mississippi case law regarding enforcement of an executed contract.

²In so ruling, the lower Court actually found there was *no* evidence of incompetence or lack of understandings of the Alternative Dispute Resolution Agreement at issue.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

James Lawrence (hereinafter "Mr. Lawrence") was admitted to Trinity Mission on January 3, 2005. At that time, both Mr. Lawrence and his Responsible Party, Ruth Lawrence, executed an Admission Agreement and an Alternative Dispute Resolution Agreement. (R. 62-77). The ADR Agreement, executed at the time of admission, contained the following language regarding what disputes would be subject to alternative dispute resolution:

Disputes subject to ADR. That Parties agree that any legal controversy, dispute, disagreement or claim of any kind (collectively "Dispute") now existing or occurring in the future between the parties arising out of or in any way relating to this Agreement, the Admission Agreement or the Resident's stay at the Facility shall be resolved through an ADR process (as defined herein), including, but not limited to, all Disputes based on breach of contract, negligence, medical malpractice, tort, breach of statutory duty, resident's rights, any departures from accepted standards of care, and all disputes regarding the interpretation of this Agreement, any allegations of fraud in the inducement or requests for rescission of this Agreement. This includes any Dispute involving a claim against the Facility, its employees, agents, officers, directors, any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of the Facility or any Dispute involving a claim against the Resident, the Resident's Legal Representative or Responsible Party or family member.

(R. 73). (Emphasis in original).

The Agreement further provided that, should the Parties be unable to resolve a dispute through a Grievance Resolution meeting, mediation and arbitration should ensue:

Mediation and Arbitration. In the event that any Dispute is not resolved through the Grievance

Resolution meeting, the Parties agree to participate in formal Mediation and Arbitration to be conducted by ADR Associates, LLC, through its Dispute Resolution Process for Consumer Healthcare Disputes ("ADR Associates' Rules"), which are incorporated herein by reference, as more fully set forth below. If ADR Associates, LLC is unable or unwilling to conduct the ADR process at the time of the dispute the parties shall mutually agree upon an alternative organization that is regularly engaged in providing ADR services to conduct the Mediation and Arbitration. If the Parties cannot agree on a mediator/arbitrator, each Party shall select one mediator/arbitrator and they together shall choose a third mediator/arbitrator who shall conduct the ADR process.

(R. 74). (Emphasis in original).

The Agreement additionally contained the following acknowledgment section:

- 1. This Alternative Dispute Resolution Agreement shall not limit in any way the Resident's right to file formal or informal grievances with the Facility or the State or Federal government;
- 2. The decision whether to sign this Agreement is solely a matter for the Resident's determination without any influence from any third-party;
- 3. Unless otherwise indicated, the Resident finds the terms and conditions of this Agreement acceptable and understands that he or she has the opportunity to suggest modifications to this Agreement and negotiate [the] terms or provisions with management of the Facility prior to signing;
- 4. THIS AGREEMENT WAIVES THE RESIDENT'S RIGHT TO A TRIAL IN COURT AND A TRIAL BY JURY FOR ANY FUTURE CLAIMS RESIDENT MAY HAVE AGAINST THE FACILITY; and
- 5. The Resident has the right to seek legal counsel regarding this Agreement.

(R. 75-76). (Emphasis in original).

Finally, above Mr. Lawrence's and Ruth Lawrence's signatures, is a section explaining an individual's right to cancel the ADR Agreement:

RESIDENT'S RIGHT TO CANCEL AGREEMENT

The Resident, or the Resident's spouse or the personal representative of the Resident's estate in the event of the Resident's death or incapacity, has the right to cancel this Agreement by notifying the Facility in writing. Such notice must be sent via certified mail to the attention of the Administrator of the Facility, and the notice must be post marked within 10 days of the date upon which this Agreement was signed. The notice may also be hand delivered to the Administrator within the same thirty day period. The filing of a claim in a court of law within the thirty days provided for above will cancel the Agreement without any further action by the Resident.

THE UNDERSTOOD ACKNOWLEDGE THAT EACH OF THEM HAS READ AND UNDERSTOOD THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT EACH OF THEM VOLUNTARILY CONSENTS TO AND ACCEPT[S] ALL OF ITS TERMS AND PROVISIONS

(R. 77). (Emphasis in original).

Neither Mr. Lawrence, nor Ruth Lawrence as his Responsible Party, took any action to rescind the agreement to arbitrate. Instead and in complete disregard for the executed contract, Ruth Lawrence filed suit against Trinity Mission, alleging, *inter alia*, negligence, malice and/or gross negligence and sought punitive damages. (R.1-25). The ADR Agreement, however, forecloses her ability to seek recovery against Trinity Mission in the Circuit Court of Marshall County. This Agreement is central to her allegations - - allegations stemming from Mr. Lawrence's residency at Trinity Mission. Accordingly, the lower Court erred in denying arbitration.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review.

"The decision to grant or deny a motion to compel arbitration is reviewed by this Court de novo." Equifirst Corp. v. Jackson, 920 So. 2d 458, 461 (Miss. 2006) (citing Doleac v. Real Estate Professionals, LLC, 911 So. 2d 496, 501 (Miss. 2005)); see also East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor, 826 So. 2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002). "This Court has consistently recognized the existence of a 'liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements." Terminix International, Inc. v. Rice, 904 So. 2d 1051, 1054-55 (Miss. 2004) (quoting Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So. 2d 719, 722 (Miss. 2002). Arbitration is firmly embedded in both our federal and state laws. Pass Termite & Pest Control, Inc. v. Walker, 904 So. 2d 1030, 1032-33 (Miss. 2004) (citing Russell, 826 So. 2d 719; East Ford, 826 So. 2d 709; and IP Timberlands Operating Co. v. Denmiss Corp., 726 So. 2d 96 (Miss. 1998)).

II. Arbitration is mandated pursuant to established jurisprudence.

In Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens, the Mississippi Supreme Court, for the first time, ruled on the issue of arbitration in the nursing home/long-term care facility setting. 911 So. 2d 507 (Miss. 2005). In Stephens, the Court held an arbitration clause contained within an admission agreement to be both procedurally and substantively conscionable. Id. That case involved a lower court's refusal to enforce a dispute resolution/arbitration clause contained within a nursing home's standard admissions form." Id. at 513. Like the case-at-bar, the agreement to arbitrate was executed by the resident, the resident's responsible party and a representative of the nursing home. Id. at 510.

The Stephens Court began its analysis with a reminder of its view of arbitration:

This Court has recognized that arbitration is favored and firmly embedded in both our federal and state laws. Pass Termite & Pest Control, Inc. v. Walker, 904 So. 2d 1030, 1032-33 (Miss. 2004) (citing Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So. 2d 719 (Miss. 2002); East For, Inc. v. Taylor, 826 So. 2d 709 (Miss. 2002); IP Timberlands Operating Co. v. Denmiss Corp., 726 So. 2d 96 (Miss. 1998)). Since our decision in *IP Timberlands*, we have explicitly recognized the applicability of arbitration for resolving disputes and have stated that we will respect the right of an individual or an entity to agree in advance of a dispute to arbitration or other alternative dispute resolution. 726 So. 2d at 104. We have thus endorsed the undisputed province of the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-16 (FAA), and recognized its clear authority to govern agreements formed in interstate commerce wherein a contractual provision provides for alternative dispute resolution. *Id.* at 107. Consistent with federal law, our case law now clearly emphasizes the favored status of arbitration. . . .

Id.

In Mississippi, a court must consider three elements when ruling on a motion to compel arbitration: (1) whether a valid written agreement to arbitrate exists; (2) whether an arbitrable issue exists; and (3) whether any defenses available under Mississippi contract law "may be asserted to invalidate the arbitration agreement without offending the Federal Arbitration Act." East Ford v. Taylor, 826 So. 2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002). In the case-at-bar, a valid written agreement to arbitrate was entered into by Mr. Lawrence, his Responsible Party, Ruth Lawrence and Trinity Mission. This binding contract is now enforceable. As the Mississippi Supreme Court stated in Stephens, "[w]e have hopefully today driven home a point for the benefit of the bench and the bar, as well as those individuals or entities who find

themselves involved with contracts contracting arbitration clauses. Arbitration is about a choice of forum - period." Stephens, 911 So. 2d at 525.

An arbitrable issue exists because the agreement encompasses the claims set forth in the Complaint. "Any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration." *Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 25 (1983). Ruth Lawrence's only possibility for avoiding enforcement of arbitration is to prove the Agreement is not valid under Mississippi law. Both Mr. Lawrence and Ruth Lawrence executed both an Admission Agreement and an ADR Agreement on January 3, 2005. Their signatures were witnessed by a Trinity Mission employee. It is undisputed following admission, and based upon the relationship created therein, Mr. Lawrence received services from Trinity Mission. No steps were taken to invalidate the agreement to arbitrate; as such, the lower court erred in not enforcing the contractual agreement to arbitrate.

Finally, the ADR Agreement is neither procedurally nor substantively unconscionable. "[T]he doctrine of 'unconscionability has been defined as an absence of meaningful choice on the part of one of the parties, together with contract terms which are unreasonably favorable to the other party." *Stephens*, 911 So. 2d at 516-17. "In *Vicksburg Partners*, [the] Mississippi Supreme court considered an assertion of procedural unconscionability...." *Covenant Health Rehab of Picayune v. Brown*, 949 So. 2d 732, 737 (Miss. 2007) (citing *Stephens*, 911 So. 2d at 516-20). A court must take into account two considerations when determining whether a contract is procedurally unconscionable: "lack of voluntariness and (2) lack of knowledge." *Id.* (citing *Stephens*, 911 So. 2d at 517-18 (citing *Entergy Miss., Inc. v. Burdette Gin*, 726 So. 2d 1202, 1207 (Miss. 1998)).

In *Brown*, the Court found contracts of adhesion not automatically void, but "the party seeking to avoid the contract generally must show that it is unconscionable." *Id.* In both *Stephens* and *Brown*, the arbitration provision at issue was found to be procedurally conscionable:

[T]here were no circumstances of exigency; the arbitration agreement appeared on the last page of a six-page agreement and was easily identifiable as it followed a clearly marked heading printed in all caps and bold-faced type clearly indicated that section "F" was about "Arbitration," the provision itself was printed in bold-faced type of equal size or greater than the print contained in the rest of the document; and, appearing between the arbitration clause and the signature lines was an all caps bold-faced consent paragraph drawing special attention to the parties' voluntary consent to the arbitration provision contained in the admission agreement. Under these facts, it can not be said that there was either a lack of knowledge that the arbitration provision was an important part of the contract or a lack of voluntariness in that [the resident and her responsible party] somehow had no choice but to sign.

The Court can further look to Judge Michael Mills' opinion – in reviewing an alternative dispute resolution agreement identical to the instant contract – as further evidence of its conscionability. In *Gulledge v. Trinity Mission Health and Rehab of Holly Springs*, the United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi found:

The agreement in question deals solely with arbitration. The agreement is only seven pages long and is clearly titled "ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION." The agreement is written in plain terms and defines all terms of art that are used. Additionally, the agreement warns the parties to read and carefully consider its contents as well as warning them of the consequences of entering the agreement. The Plaintiff offers no evidence to show any exigency forced the agreement. In fact, the agreement itself has an escape clause if a party later desired to rescind the agreement and move to a different facility.

2007 WL 3102141 (N.D. Miss. Oct. 22, 2007). (Slip copy). The same logic can be found when reviewing the instant contract. All sections of the Agreement are clearly marked with headings in bold, all-caps font; the language is non-legalistic and contained the following acknowledgment above James and Ruth Lawrence's signatures: "THE UNDERSIGNED ACKNOWLEDGE THAT EACH OF THEM HAS READ AND UNDERSTOOD THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT EACH OF THEM VOLUNTARILY CONSENTS TO AND ACCEPT ALL OF ITS TERMS AND PROVISIONS." (R.77).

In determining whether a contract is substantively conscionable, the Court is to look to ".

. the four corners of an agreement." *Brown*, 949 So. 2d at 733. "Substantive unconscionability is present when there is a one-sided agreement whereby one party is deprived of all the benefits of the agreement or left without a remedy for another party's nonperformance or breach."

Stephens, 911 So. 2d at 521 (citing *Bank of Indiana v. Holyfield*, 476 F. Supp. 104-10 (S.D. Miss. 1979)). In *Stephens*, the Court found "arbitration agreements merely submit the question of liability to another forum – generally speaking, they do not waive liability." *Id.* at 522. The ADR Agreement is such an agreement. The Agreement set forth *both* a right to legal advice and a right to rescind.

In *Brown*, in considering defenses to arbitration, the Court addressed the argument of an individual waiving the right to a jury trial:

The provision has the same effect as signing an arbitration agreement. It is well-established that this Court respects the ability of parties to agree to the means of a dispute resolution prior to a dispute and enforces the plain meaning of a contract as it represent the intent of the parties.

· Brown, 949 So. 2d at 740 (citing Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So. 2d 719. 722

(Miss. 2002). The rationale is the same in the instant matter. The contract at issue clearly put James and Ruth Lawrence on notice of the waiver of a jury trial. In fact, page two of the Agreement, Section A, "STATEMENT OF PURPOSE" provided:

The purpose of this Alternative Dispute Resolution Agreement is to provide an efficient way for the Parties to resolve any dispute that may arise out of the Resident's stay at the Facility. Avoiding the substantial expense of litigating disputes in a courtroom setting allows the Facility to spend its money on other areas that may be of greater benefit to the Resident. . . . As the Resident and/or Responsible Party may be unfamiliar with Grievance Resolution, Mediation and Arbitration, it is important that the Parties fully understand their rights and obligations created by this Agreement. While there are certain advantages to Grievance Resolution, Mediation and Arbitration, by signing this Agreement, the Resident and/or Responsible Party are giving up certain rights that they may consider important, for example, the right to have your dispute heard by a judge or jury.

(R.72).

The "ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RESIDENT" section of the Agreement further set forth language regarding waiver: "THIS AGREEMENT WAIVES THE RESIDENT'S RIGHT TO A TRIAL IN COURT AND A TRIAL BY JURY FOR ANY FUTURE CLAIMS RESIDENT MAY HAVE AGAINST THE FACILITY." (R.76)(Emphasis in original). In Mississippi, a person is charged with knowing the contents of any document he or she executes. *Russell*, 826 So. 2d 719. A court should, therefore, give great weight to the writing in the instrument when determining intent. *St. Regis Paper Corp. v. Floyd*, 238 So. 2d 740, 744 (Miss. 1970). Applying this reasoning, the Court should enforce James Lawrence's decision to waive his right to have any claims against Trinity Mission heard by a jury and order the matter to binding arbitration.

In Brown the Court further held the "[arbitration] provision contained another characteristic of a conscionable provision in that it was found to bear some reasonable relationship to the risks and needs of this business." Brown, 949 So.2d 741, (quoting Entergy, Miss., Inc., 726 So. 2d at 1207). The agreement at issue clearly bears a "reasonable relationship to the risks and needs" of Trinity Mission.³ Id. It is no secret that, prior to enactment of Mississippi's Medical Malpractice Tort Reform Act, many nursing home owners were left without insurance to cover claims of negligence. This was the result of the high cost of litigation and runaway jury verdicts. The addition of arbitration provisions became a way to balance these risks to business stability. Mississippi Appellate Court have found beginning with Stephens, arbitration provisions, with language similar to that in dispute, to not be oppressive, but simply a fair process to pursue claims. See Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens, 911 So. 2d 507 (Miss. 2005); see also Covenant Health and Rehab of Picayune, L.P. v. Brown, 949 So. 2d 732 (Miss. 2007); Magnolia Healthcare, Inc. v. Barnes, So. 2d , 2008 WL 95814 (Miss. 2008); Trinity Mission of Clinton, LLC v. Barber, __ So. 2d __, 2007 WL 2421720 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); Trinity Mission Health and Rehab of Clinton v. Scott, ___ So. 2d ___, 2008 WL 73682 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008); Covenant Health and Rehabilitation of Picayune v. Lumpkin, __ So. 2d ____, 2008 WL 306008 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008); and Forest Hill Nursing Center, Inc., v. McFarlan, So. 2d , 2008 WL 852581 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). The claims asserted by Ruth Lawrence relate

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