IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO.: 2008-TS-00027

TRINITY MISSION HEALTH & REHAB OF HOLLY SPRINGS, LLC and JOHN DOES 1-20

APPELLANT

V.

RUTH LAWRENCE, as Administratrix of the Estate of JAMES E. LAWRENCE, Deceased and on Behalf of the Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of James E. Lawrence, Deceased.

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

John G. (Trae) Sims, III, Esq. (MSB# SIMS LAW GROUP, PLLC P.O. Box 917 Canton, Mississippi 39046 (601) 859-9022 (601) 859-9023 fax

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO.: 2008-TS-00027

TRINITY MISSION HEALTH & REHAB OF HOLLY SPRINGS, LLC and JOHN DOES 1-20

APPELLANT

V.

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

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In determining whether parties should be compelled to arbitrate a dispute, district courts perform a two-step inquiry. "First, the Court must determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate the dispute in question. This determination involves two considerations: (1) whether there is a valid agreement to arbitrate between the parties; and (2) whether the dispute in question falls within the scope of that arbitration agreement." *Am. Heritage Life Ins. Co. v. Beasley*, 174 F.Supp. 2d 450, 454 (N.D. Miss. 2001) (citing 9 U.S.C. §4). *See also*, *Pre-Paid Legal Services*, *Inc. v. Battle*, 873 So.2d 79, 83 (Miss. 2004).

If the Court finds that the parties agreed to arbitrate, "it must then consider whether any federal statute or policy renders the claims non-arbitrable." *Id.* "[A] party seeking to avoid arbitration must allege and prove that the arbitration provision itself was a product of fraud or coercion; alternatively, that party can allege and prove that another ground exists at law or in equity that would allow the parties' contract or agreement to be revoked." *Id.* (citing *Sam Reisfeld & Son Import Co. v. S. A. Eteco*, 530 F.2d 679, 680-681 (5th Cir. 1976)).

Furthermore, federal district courts in Mississippi have noted that the FAA's policy of favoring arbitration applies only after a valid arbitration agreement has been found. See Memorandum Opinion and Order denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel Arbitration, Mariner Health Care, Inc. v. Guthrie, Civil Action No. 5:04cv218-DCB-JCS (U. S. Dist. Ct., S.D. Miss. West. Div.), p. 6, fn. 4, emphasis in original, citing Fleetwood Enters., Inc. v. Garkamp, 280 F.3d 1069, 1070 & 1070 n.5 (5th Cir. 2002); see also similar Order in Rhodes, Civil Action No. 5:04cv217-DCB-JCS. An agreement to arbitrate is treated like any other contract. Kresock v. Bankers Trust Co., 21 F.3d 176, 178 (7th Cir. 1994). A party cannot be forced to submit to

II. NO BINDING ARBITRATION AGREEMENT EXISTED

A. Ruth Lawrence Lacked the Authority to Bind James Lawrence to Arbitration

In a recent line of cases with facts very similar to the case at bar, both this Court and the Federal District Courts in the Northern District of Mississippi have addressed the validity of arbitration agreements binding nursing home residents signed by family members without the legal capacity to do so.

Recently, this Court issued its opinion in *Mississippi Care Center of Greenville, et al v. Hinyub*, 975 So.2d 211 (Miss. 2008). The case is directly on point as to the issue of whether Mrs. Lawrence's signature on the admission documents created a valid arbitration agreement. And it can be naturally extended to resolve the issue as to whether the Circuit Court was correct in finding Trinity's failure to produce evidence to rebut the Lawrence's denial that the mark on the document was Mr. Lawrence's. In *Hinyub*, this Court considered the first prong of the well established two-prong test of whether the parties agreed to arbitrate, and found it unnecessary to consider the second prong when the first was not met. *Id*, at 217, 218. The present case falls in to the same category. In *Hinyub*, Mississippi Care Center contended that Nancy Hinyub had authority to bind her father in health care matters, including the agreement to arbitrate.

Mississippi Care Center relied upon a power of attorney executed by Hinyub's father, but not properly admitted into evidence or placed in to the record for this Court's review, and relied upon the Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute, Miss.Code Ann. 41-41-211 (Rev. 2005).

Because no power of attorney appeared in the record and because no information appeared in the

record that Hinyub's father lacked capacity to make his own health care decisions, this Court affirmed the lower court's denial of Mississippi Care Center's Motion to Compel Arbitration.

In the present case, there is no power of attorney in the record authorizing Mrs. Lawrence to bind her husband. Nor is there any evidence presented that Mr. Lawrence lacked capacity to make his own health care decisions. In particular, there is no evidence that Mr. Lawrence's primary physician determined he lacked capacity. As well, there is no evidence that the signing of the arbitration agreement was a pre-condition of admission, thus taking the arbitration agreement outside of a health care decision and causing the surrogate statute to be inapplicable. As to Mrs. Lawrence's signature and the issue of whether she had authority to bind her husband, this Court should simply look to its clear reasoning in *Hinyub* and find Mrs. Lawrence's signature on the Admissions Documents to be of no consequence as regarding the issue of Arbitration.

In *Hinyub*, it was undisputed that the father had never signed an arbitration agreement.

In the present case, it is alleged by Trinity that Mr. Lawrence made his "mark" on the agreement, but this is denied by Mrs. Lawrence. Although on its face this fact is not analogous to the scenario in *Hinyub*, the legal reasoning employed by the Court remains on point and applicable. Mississippi Care Center essentially lost its bid to compel arbitration in *Hinyub* because they failed to produce evidence establishing a valid arbitration agreement. In Judge Lackey's Order Overruling Binding Arbitration, Trinity lost its bid for the same reason. Trinity produced no evidence that the mark made on the Admissions Documents was Mr. Lawrence's. They could have brought witnesses to the hearing, they could have had a notary present for the purported "marking", or they could have at least presented an affidavit, but they did none of this. By failing to meet the "first prong"—that is, showing a valid agreement to arbitrate--they gave

Judge Lackey no chance to grant their motion or even to consider the underlying arguments of both sides as to procedural and substantive unconscionability.

As noted above, Mississippi Federal Courts have used the same reasoning as this Court in several cases in recent years. In Mariner Healthcare, Inc. v. Green, 2006 WL 1626581 (N.D. Miss), the District Court determined that agreements signed by family members without legal capacity to do so are only binding if the signor has been given agency authority to act on behalf of the resident. Id. Such agency authority can be express, implied, apparent or given by statute, and the existence of such agency must be proven by the nursing home defendant. Id. nursing home defendants in *Green* did not meet their burden with regards to express or implied authority, as they provided no evidence that Green conveyed to her daughter any express or implied grant of authority. Although the nursing home defendants did provide evidence of past agreements signed by Green's daughter, the Court reiterated the ruling in prior cases that "apparent authority is to be determined only from the acts of the principal and requires reliance and good faith on the part of the third party." Id. With regards to statutory authority, Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-211, the "Surrogate Statute", does grant surrogates the power to make "health-care decisions" for the resident. However, courts have determined that the signing of an arbitration agreement is not a "healthcare decision" that qualifies under the statute. Id. See also Guthrie, Civil Action No. 5:04cv218-DCB-JCS.

The "Surrogate Statute" states that "A surrogate may make a health-care decision for a patient who is an adult or emancipated minor if the patient has been determined by the primary physician to lack capacity and no agent or guardian has been appointed or the agent or guardian is not reasonably available." Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-211. So for the statute to apply and for Mrs. Lawrence to have had authority to bind Mr. Lawrence to the arbitration agreement, there

must be evidence of a determination made by Mr. Lawrence's primary physician that he was mentally incompetent.

To date, no proof on the issue of Ruth Lawrence's authority as an agent of James Lawrence has been presented. Mrs. Lawrence's signature should therefore be treated as a nullity, and this Court should use only Mr. Lawrence's acts and intentions in analyzing the enforceability of the arbitration agreement.

There is ample authority for the proposition that where an agent does not have authority to bind a party to an arbitration agreement, or where the party otherwise does not sign the agreement, the party cannot be bound by its terms. See AT&T Technologies, Inc. v. Communications Workers, 475 U.S. 643, 106 S.Ct. 1415, 89 L.Ed.2d 648 (1986) (to require the plaintiffs to arbitrate where they deny that they entered into the contracts would be inconsistent with the "first principle' of arbitration that "a party cannot be required to submit [to arbitration] any dispute which she has not agreed so to submit."); Volt Info. Sciences, Inc. v. Board of Trustees, 489 U.S. 468, 109 S.Ct. 1248, 103 L.Ed.2d 488 (1989); Chastain v. The Robinson-Humphrey Company, Inc., 957 F.2d 851 (11th Cir. 1992); Goldberg v. Bear, Stearns & Co., 912 F.2d 1418 (11th Cir. 1990) (per curiam); Cancannon v. Smith Barney, Harris, Upham & Co., 805 F.2d 998 (11th Cir. 1986) (per curiam); Three Valleys Municipal Water District v. E. F. Hutton & Company, Inc., 925 F.2d 1136 (9th Cir. 1991); Par-Knit Mills, Inc. v. Stockbridge Fabrics Co., 636 F.2d 51 (3rd Cir. 1980); N & D Fashions, Inc. v. DHJ Indus., Inc., 548 F.2d 722 (8th Cir. 1976); Smith Wilson Co. v. Trading & Dev. Establishment, 744 F.Supp. 14 (D.D.C. 1990); Ferreri v. First Options, Inc., 623 F.Supp. 427 (E.D. Pa. 1985); Sphere Drake Insurance Ltd. V. All American Ins. Co., 256 F.3d 587 (7th Cir. 2001); Sandvik AB v. Advent International Corp., 220 F.3d 99 (3rd Cir. 2000); Raiteri v. NHC Healthcare/Knoxville, Inc.,

B. <u>Trinity Has Produced No Evidence To Establish That The "Mark" On The Admissions Documents Was Mr. Lawrence's</u>

At the time Mr. Lawrence entered Trinity, he was mentally competent, but physically limited. He was able to walk a little according to his wife. The social worker's notes indicate he could move himself in his wheelchair. He knew his name, knew the current season, knew that nursing home staff was not his family, and was aware that he was in a nursing home in Holly Springs, Mississippi. He was able to reminisce about his childhood. And he could make his own decisions related to everyday life. He was illiterate except that he knew how to sign his name, though on the date of admission he was unable to sign documents according to both his wife and the social worker notes.

Despite all of this, he was not presented any of the paperwork for review to "mark" in the presence of his wife nor the social worker. The arbitration agreement produced by the Defendant shows a mark on the line where Mr. Lawrence's signature was indicated. Another mark with a substantially different appearance appears on the Admission Agreement. Mrs. Lawrence did not witness either of these purported signatures and no notary was present to verify them. No witness to the signatures was produced to testify at the hearing on Trinity's Motion to Compel. No other document produced by the Defendant, including those required by Federal and State Law, bear any purported mark from Mr. Lawrence whatsoever.

The complete lack of evidence that Mr. Lawrence "marked" any document in the face of Mrs. Lawrence's challenge was and is fatal to Trinity's ability to establish that a valid arbitration agreement existed by virtue of Mr. Lawrence's assent.

The remaining legal arguments in this brief pertain only to the issues of Procedural and Substantive Unconscionability. Because Judge Lackey correctly denied Trinity's Motion to Compel Arbitration for failing to meet the first prong of the two-prong test, there is no need for this Court to address these issues. However, in an abundance of caution, the issues are addressed in the event the Court finds it necessary to extend its review beyond the purview of Judge Lackey's decision.

C. The Purported Arbitration Agreement is Procedurally Unconscionable in that it Does Not Evidence that there was a Knowing and Voluntary Waiver of the Right to a Jury Trial, nor has such Proof been Presented; Thus, The Court Should Have Denied the Motion Even if a Valid Arbitration Agreement was Found to have Existed.

The law indulges every presumption against waiver of a right to trial by jury. *Hodges v. Easton*, 106 U.S. 408, 412, 1 S.Ct. 307, 311 (1882). The Mississippi Supreme Court stated in *Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens*, 911 So.2d 507, 2005 WL 2298855, No. 2004-CA-01345-SCT, at p. 14 (Miss. 2005):

In general, the doctrine of "unconscionability" has been defined as "an absence of meaningful choice on the part of one of the parties, together with contract terms which are unreasonably favorable to the other party." [citations omitted]... Notably, we review all questions concerning unconscionability under the circumstances as they existed at the time the contract was made. [citations omitted].

Id.

Here, at the time the purported contract was made, The Lawrence's were under the impression that Mrs. Lawrence had to sign the documents presented by the nursing home in order to be admitted and the allowed to stay in the nursing home. The lack of any choice (take it or leave it) creates the unmistakable atmosphere of unconscionability and that renders the purported agreement void. Additionally, the contract terms and the contract itself unreasonably favor the nursing home defendants. Defendants ostensibly prefer arbitration over state circuit

court suits, believing that compensatory and punitive awards will be less, that an arbitration will create less unfavorable press than a jury trial, that an arbitration will be less expensive to defend than a jury trial, etc. They also know that their corporate and insurance clients will have greater familiarity with arbitrators, much more contact in the past and future, with both the arbitrator forum and the arbitrator, and this will exert greater influence on the arbitrator, and the arbitrator forum who have a vested interest in continuing to be selected by nursing home litigants. Conversely, the Plaintiff will almost assuredly never be in a position to select an arbitrator again, and will therefore be unable to financially reward or penalize the arbitrator based on his performance.

The standard for waiver of the constitutional right to jury trial in Mississippi is that the waiver must be made "willingly, knowingly and voluntarily." *Id.* at 31 ("Both the patient, as well as the person responsible for him, willingly, knowingly, and voluntarily agreed to have future disputes decided by a mutually selected arbitration panel."); *D. H. Overmyer Co. v. Frick Co.*, 405 U.S. 174, 185-86, 92 S.Ct. 775, 31 L.Ed.2d 124 (1972); *B. C. Rogers Poultry, Inc. v. Wedgeworth*, 911 So.2d 483, 2005 WL 2234777, *3 (Miss. 2005) ("This Court remains unconvinced, as the law requires, that Wedgeworth knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his fundamental right to a jury trial."); *Sullivan v. Protex Weatherproofing, Inc.*, 913 So.2d 256, 2005 WL 729536, *8 (Miss. 2005); *see also Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens*, *supra*, at p. 31 (knowing and voluntary waiver on behalf of both the agent and the principal are necessary).

D. The Purported Arbitration Agreement Constitutes Illegal Additional Consideration, in Violation of 42 U.S.C. §1396r(c)(5)(A)(iii), and Should Not Be Enforced.

It is unquestionable that Mississippi considers the waiver of a right to be consideration.

Estate of Lexie Louis Sadler v. Lee, 98 So.2d 863, 867 (Miss. 1957). By attempting to require James Lawrence to waive his right to a jury trial, Trinity Mission Health & Rehab of Holly Springs, LLC sought to extract consideration in addition to his agreement to pay for services at that facility.

Nursing homes that require arbitration agreements of their residents violate federal law by requiring additional consideration from the resident in exchange for continued stay at the nursing home. Where an individual is entitled to medical assistance through Medicare or Medicaid, a nursing facility must not charge, solicit, accept, or receive, in addition to any amount otherwise required to be paid under the State plan, any gift, money donation, or other consideration as a precondition of admitting... the individual to the facility or as a requirement for the individual's continued stay in the facility.

42 U.S.C. §1396r(c)(5)(A)(iii). Furthermore, federal regulations provide as follows:

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